CORPORATIONS ACT, 2001 COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE

CONSTITUTION

o f

GENERAL PRACTICE EASTERN SYDNEY LIMITED

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 This Constitution

This Constitution contains clauses setting out the manner in which the Members of the Company have agreed to conduct the internal administration of the Company.

1.2 Replaceable Rules

This Constitution takes the place of the Replaceable Rules.

1.3 Definitions

In this Constitution, unless the context otherwise requires:

"AGM" means Annual General Meeting;

- "Appointed Director" means a Director appointed by the Board under clause 6.8;
- "Associate Member" means a member of the Company who is a General Practitioner or a retired General Practitioner who does not qualify to be an Ordinary Member under the definition in this Constitution, or any person whom the Directors in their discretion consider suitable for associate membership of the Company'.
- "Associated Party" means each of the following:
 - (a) the Company;
 - (b) Any Related Body Corporate of the Company;
 - (c) Any other body corporate, trust or entity promoted by the Company or in which the Company has an interest of any kind.

"CESPHN" means Central and Eastern Sydney Primary Health Network (EIS Health)

"Company" means General Practice Eastern Sydney Limited;

[&]quot;Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company;

- "Constitution" means this constitution and any supplementary, substituted or amended constitution being in force from time to time;
- "Designated Area" means the geographic area within the post codes of 2000, 2008 2010, 2011, 2021, 2022, 2023, 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029, 2030.
- A "Director" mean a person who is elected or appointed to that position in accordance with the Constitution and is acting in that capacity;
- "EGM" means Extraordinary General Meeting;
- "**Elected Director**" means a Director elected by the Members under clause 6.1(b)(i);
- "Executive" means collectively the President, Vice President and Treasurer each of whom shall be elected by the Board in accordance with this Constitution;
- "General Practitioner" means a "medical practitioner" as defined in Section 3 of the Health Insurance Act 1973 (Cth) including any amendment or re-enactment of the same or any legislation passed in substitution and whose practice involves the provision of primary, continuing and comprehensive whole-patient care to individuals, families and their community;
- "Immediate Past President" means the person who held the office of President immediately prior to the then current President;
- "Law" means the Corporations Act 2001 or any statutory modification, amendment or reenactment in force and any reference to any section, part or division is to that provision as so modified, amended or re-enacted;
- "**Member**" means a person admitted by the Board as an Ordinary Member or Associate Member of the Company;
- "Ordinary Member" means a Member of the Company who is a General Practitioner who practises for at least one Session per week averaged over each 12 month period from 1 July to 30 June in a location which is within the area of the Designated Area;
- "Chairperson means the President elected by the Board in accordance with this Constitution;

"Register" means the register of Members kept by the Company under the Law; "Related

Body Corporate" has the same meaning as is ascribed to it in the Law; "Replaceable Rule"

has the same meaning as is ascribed to it in the Law; "Seal" means the common seal of the

Company;

"Secretary" means any person appointed to perform the duties of a Secretary of the Company and includes an honorary Secretary;

"Session" means three (3) hours;

"State" means the State of New South Wales:

"Teleconference Meeting of the Board" means the contemporaneous linking together by telephone, radio or other form of instantaneous audio and visual communication of a number of members of the Board constituting not less than the quorum required for the purpose of this Constitution whether or not one or more members of the Board is outside the Commonwealth of Australia.

1.4 Meaning of words

In this constitution, unless the context otherwise requires:

- (a) expressions referring to writing shall, unless the contrary intention appears, be construed as including references to printing, lithography, photography and other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form;
- (b) word or expressions contained in this Constitution shall be interpreted in accordance with the provision of the Corporations Law and the Law as in force at the date of which this Constitution become binding on the Company;
- (c) persons include companies and corporations and vica versa;
- (d) the masculine gender includes the feminine gender and vica versa; and
- (e) the singular number includes the plural number and vica versa. 2.

2. PURPOSE OF COMPANY

"The objects for which the company is formed are:

- (a) To support and maintain the best standards of primary care provided to the community by General Practitioners that promotes the improved healthcare of people living in Sydney, Australia.
- (b) To promote healthcare education for General Practitioner Members and collaboration with other healthcare professionals which further aims to provide improved healthcare to people in Sydney, Australia.
- (c) To improve the healthcare and health of people living in Sydney by championing improved communication and collaboration between General Practitioners, Hospitals and other Medical Specialists and Allied Health Professionals.
- (d) To support other associations with similar objectives as the Company as the board deems appropriate.
- (e) To be a member of Central and Eastern Sydney Primary Health Network (CESPHN) and to collaborate with CESPHN and related entities.
- (f) To act as an advocate on behalf of the Members of GPES.
- (g) To provide a forum for Members to network socially and collaboratively with peers, other health professionals and other relevant parties that aim to improve the health and wellbeing of the community.
- (h) To collaborate with other organisations including CESPHN that provide support and or capacity building services for Members.
- (i) To pursue any other actions which are, in the opinion of the Directors, consistent with the above."

3. MEMBERS

3.1 Eligibility to apply to be a Member

- (a) Any person is eligible to apply to become an Ordinary Member who meets the definition of "Ordinary Member" in this Constitution.
- (b) Any person is eligible to apply to become an Associate Member who meets the definition of "Associate Member" in this Constitution.

3.2 Application for membership

An application for membership must comply with the following requirements:

- (a) It must be accompanied with the joining fee (as determined by the Board) and annual fee (as determined by the Board) as at the date of application.
- (b) It must be signed by or on behalf of the applicant.
- (c) It must be accompanied by such documents or evidence as to qualification for membership applied for as the Board may determine from time to time

For the avoidance of doubt, Foundation Members do not need to apply to be a Member of the Company or pay the joining fee to be a Member of the Company.

3.3 Admission for membership

- (a) The Board must consider an application for membership as soon as practicable after its receipt and determine, in its absolute discretion, the admission or rejection of the applicant.
- (b) The Board does not have to give reasons for rejecting an application.
- (c) If an application is accepted for membership the Secretary must notify the applicant of admission and the name of details of the applicant must be entered into the Register.

3.4 Entitlement of Members

Subject to payment of the annual membership fee as determined by the Board:

- (a) Ordinary Members shall have all rights conferred on a Member by this Constitution including:
 - (i) the right to receive notices, attend and to vote at all meetings of the Company; and
 - (ii) the eligibility to stand for election as a Director.
- (b) Associate Members shall have all rights conferred on a Member by this Constitution including the right to receive notices and to attend all meetings of the Company but shall not be:
 - (i) entitled to vote at meetings of the Company; nor
 - (ii) eligible to stand for election as a Director.

3.5 Disciplining of Members

- (a) Subject clauses 3.3(b) and 3.3(c), the Board has the power by resolution to censure, fine, suspend or expel a Member from the Company if such Member shall:
 - (i) wilfully refuse or neglect to comply with the provision of the Constitution of the Company; or
 - (ii) be guilty of any conduct which in the opinion of the Board is unbecoming of a Member or prejudicial to the interests, image or welfare of the Company; or
 - (iii) make public statements which in the opinion of the Board are damaging to the reputation of the Company or its Board; or
 - (iv) fail to pay to the Company any moneys due by the Member to the Company after due notice has been given.
- (b) At least one week before the meeting of the Board at which a resolution in accordance with clause 3.3(a) is proposed the Board must give written notice to the Member:
 - (i) advising the Member of the date, time and place of the meeting;
 - (ii) the general nature of what is alleged against him/her; and
 - (iii) the intended resolution is proposed by the Board.
- (c) At such meeting before the passing of any resolution in relation to a Member, the Member must be given an opportunity of giving orally or in writing any explanation or defence he/she may think fit.

3.6 Cessation of Membership

A Member shall cease to be a Member of the Company and his/her name be deleted from the Register of Members if the Member;

- (a) dies;
- (b) resigns as a Member by notice in writing to the Company;
- (c) is expelled from the Company in accordance with Clause 3.3 above;
- (d) (in the case of an Ordinary Member) ceases to meet the definition of "Ordinary Member" in this Constitution; or
- (e) (in the case of an Associate Member) ceases to meet the definition of "Associate Member" in this Constitution.

3.7 Membership not transferable

A Member's rights, privileges and benefits of membership are personal to the Member and membership of the Company is not transferable, other than by operation of law.

3.8 Compliance

All Members must comply with the provisions of this Constitution.

3.9 Register of Members

- (a) A register of Members of the Company must be kept in accordance with the Law.
- (b) The following details must be entered in the Register in respect of each member:
 - (i) the full name of the Member;
 - (ii) the registered address of the Member; and
 - (iii) the date on which the entry of the Member's name in the Register is made.
- (c) The Register must also show the following information, which may be kept separately from the rest of the Register:
 - (i) the name and details of each person who stopped being a Member within the last 7 years; and
 - (ii) the date on which each such person stopped being a Member.
- (d) The Company may also keep further registers recording other information about Members that is not required to be kept under the Law.
- (e) Each Member must notify the Secretary in writing of any change in its name, address, telephone or fax number or email address within one month after the change.

3.10 Assets and income

The assets and income of the Company shall be applied solely in furtherance of the Company's objectives and no portion shall be distributed directly or indirectly to the Members of the Company except as bona fide compensation for services rendered or expenses incurred on behalf of the Company

4. GENERAL MEETINGS

4.1 Annual General Meeting

An AGM of the Company shall be held in accordance with the provision of the Law. All general meetings, other than an AGM shall be called an EGM.

4.2 Convening of an EGM

Any Director, whenever he or she thinks fit, may convene an EGM. An EGM shall be convened on such requisition or in default may be convened by such requisitions as provided by the Law.

4.3 Period of Notice of Meetings

- (a) Subject to the provisions of the Law relating to special resolutions and agreements for shorter notice, at least twenty one (21) days notice shall be given to such Members as are entitled to receive such notices from the Company specifying:
 - (i) the place of meeting;
 - (ii) the day and hour of meeting; and
 - (iii) in case of EGM's, the agenda of the EGM.
- (b) The period of notice given by the Company shall be exclusive of:
 - (i) the day on which the notice is served or deemed to be served; and
 - (ii) the day for which notice is given.

4.4 Notice By Post or Facsimile Transmission

A notice of meeting sent by post is taken to be given 3 days after it is posted. A notice of meeting sent by facsimile transmission, or other electronic means, is taken to be given on the business day after it is sent.

4.5 Major Decisions

For the purposes of this clause 4 the following decisions may only be voted on by special resolution of all Members at either an AGM or an EGM:

- (a) receipt and consideration of the balance sheet and income and expenditure accounts and the report of the Auditors;
- (b) receipt and consideration of reports of the Board;
- (c) election of officers and other members of the Board in the place of those retiring;
- (d) appointment of the Auditors, if necessary; and
- (e) amendments to the Constitution of the Company.

5. PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETING

5.1 Quorum

(a) <u>Number required</u>

The quorum for a meeting of Members of the Company is nine (9) Ordinary Members and the quorum must be present at all times during the meeting.

(b) <u>Determination of Quorum</u>

In determining whether a quorum is present the Company must count individuals attending as proxies or body corporate representatives. If an Ordinary Member has appointed more than 1 proxy or representative, the Company must count only 1 of the proxies in attendance.

(c) No quorum present

A meeting of Members of the Company that does not have a quorum present within 30 minutes after the time for the meeting set out in the notice of meeting is adjourned to the date, time and place the Board specifies. If the Board do not specify 1 or more of those things, the meeting is adjourned to:

- (i) if the date is not specified the same day in the next week; and
- (ii) if the time is not specified the same time; and
- (iii) if the place is not specified the same place.

(d) No quorum at resumed meetings

If no quorum is present at the resumed meeting within 30 minutes after the time for the meeting, the meeting is dissolved.

5.2 Chairing of meetings of Members

(a) Chairperson to chair meetings

The Chairperson / President selected by the Board in accordance with this Constitution shall chair all meetings of the Company. The appointed delegate (another Director) may chair the meeting if necessary.

Members must elect chairman in certain circumstances

(a) Members must elect chairman in certain circumstances

The Ordinary Members at a meeting of Members of the Company must elect an Ordinary Member present to chair the meeting (or part of it) if the President or in his/her absence the Vice President is not available, or declines to act, for the meeting (or part of the meeting).

5.3 Adjournment of Meeting

- (a) Subject to clause 5.3(b), the Chairman with the consent of majority of the Ordinary Members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present (Initial Meeting) may adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at Initial Meeting. It shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or the business to be transaction at an adjourned meeting.
- (b) When a meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given in accordance with clause 4 of this Constitution as in the case of an original meeting.

5.4 Method of voting

At any meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided by a show of hand unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the show of hands) demanded:

- (a) by the Chairperson, or
- (b) by any Ordinary Member present in person or by proxy.

Unless a poll is so demanded a declaration by the Chairman that a resolution has on show of hands be carried or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution. The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

5.5 Proxies

Appointment of proxy

(a) Subject to clause 5.5 (c)(iv), an Ordinary Member of the Company who is entitled to attend and cast a vote at a meeting of the Company may appoint a person as his proxy to attend and vote for the Ordinary Member at the meeting.

Proxy votes

(b) Before a vote is taken the Chairman must inform the meeting whether any proxy votes have been received and how the proxy votes are to be cast.

Validity of Proxy vote

- (c) Unless the Company has received written notice of the matter before the start or resumption of the meeting at which a proxy vote, a vote cast by the proxy will be valid even if, before the proxy votes:
 - (i) the appointing Ordinary Member dies; or
 - (ii) the Ordinary Member is mentally incapacitated; or
 - (iii) the Ordinary Member revokes the proxy's appointment; or
 - (iv) the Ordinary Member revokes the authority under which the proxy was appointed by a third party.

Proxy must be in writing

- (d) The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
- (e) The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll.
- (f) An Ordinary Member appointing a proxy must instruct his proxy is to vote in favour of or against any proposed resolutions. If the proxy does not contain such instructions it shall not be valid.

Proxy Instrument

(g) The instrument appointing a proxy may be in the following form or in a common or usual form.

Proxy

I of being an Ordinary Member of General Practice Eastern Sydney Limited appoints of failing him/her of as my proxy vote for me on my behalf at the

Annual/Extraordinary* General Meeting of the Company to be held on the day of 20 and at any adjournment of it.

My proxy is hereby authorised to vote in favour of/against* the following resolutions:

Signed this day of 20

* delete which ever is not applicable

NOTE: in the event of the Member desiring to vote for or against any resolution he shall instruct his proxy accordingly. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

(h) The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of authority shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company or at such other place within the State as is specified for that purpose in the notice convening the meeting, not less than twenty four hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote, and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

5.6 Poll

- (a) If a poll is duly demanded is shall be taken in such a manner and either at once or after an interval or adjournment or otherwise as the Chairman directs, and the result of the poll shall be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded but a poll demanded on the election of a Chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith.
- (b) When a poll is conducted each Member who is present in person or by proxy, shall be entitled to one vote.

5.7 Election of Board

Despite anything contained or implied in this Constitution, voting on the election of members of the Board shall always be by secret ballot and the candidates receiving the greatest number of votes having regard to the number of positions available shall be elected. The number of votes to which each candidate for election is entitled to on such ballots shall be calculated in accordance with the relevant provisions of this Constitution.

5.8 Equality

In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hand or on a poll, the President (and if the President is not the Chairman, then the Chairman) of the meeting at which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded shall be entitled to a second or casting vote.

5.9 Objection to right to vote

A challenge to a right to vote at a general meeting:

- (a) may only be made at the meeting; and
- (b) must be determined by the Chairman, whose decision is final.

5.10 No vote - unpaid fees

No Ordinary Member shall be entitled to vote at any general meeting if his annual subscription for the Company shall be more than one month in arrears at the date of the meeting

6. THE BOARD

6.1 Composition of the Board

- (a) The Board must at all times comprise of:
 - (i) a minimum of 3 Directors; or
 - (ii) a maximum total of 7 Directors.
- (b) The maximum number of Directors stipulated in clause 6.1(a) includes the Immediate Past Chairperson.

6.2 Election of Elected Directors and Appointment of Immediate Past Chairperson

- (a) At each AGM the:
 - (i) Elected Directors shall be elected: and
 - (ii) Immediate Past Chairperson shall be appointed,

And the Board shall hold office until the next AGM when the Elected Directors and the Immediate Past Chairperson shall all retire and be eligible for re-election or re-appointment as the case may be.

- (b) Subject to clause 6.2(c) the election of the Elected Directors shall take place in the following manner:
 - i) Any two Members of the Company shall be at liberty to nominate any other Member to serve as an Elected Director.
 - ii) The nomination shall be:
 - a. in writing and signed by the Members making the nomination and bey the person being nominated: and
 - b. lodged with the Secretary at least seven days before the AGM at which election is to take place
 - iii) Balloting lists shall be prepared (if necessary) containing names of the candidates only in alphabetical order.
 - iv) A copy of the information for each candidate shall be circulated to Members provided that such information complies with the requirements of the Board.
 - v) The election of Elected Directors must be carried out by secret ballot according of Hare Clarke proportional optional preferential voting system.
 - vi) The Secretary must tally the votes. The Chairperson of the general meeting must check the result.
 - vii) The Chairperson of the general meeting must announce the result of the ballot to the

Members and record the result in the minutes.

- viii) The Secretary must confidentially destroy the ballots as soon as reasonably practicable after closure of the annual general meeting.
- ix) If there are insufficient nominees for the minimum number of Elected Directors stipulated under clause 6.1 the Board shall make appointments to fill the remaining vacancies.
- (c) Despite Clause 6.2(b)
 - (i) Any retiring Elected Director seeking re-election: and
 - (ii) The immediate Past Chairperson.

Shall not require nomination by two members but instead shall be required to notify the Secretary of the Company in writing at least seven days before the AGM at which the election is to take place of an intention to stand for re-election or appointment.

- (d) Despite Clause 6.2(a) the office of Immediate Past Chairperson shall immediately become vacant if:
 - (i) At any time an incumbent chairperson is not re-elected in accordance with clause 6.3: or
 - (ii) An incumbent Chairperson retires before that person's term expiring.

6.3 Election of Executive

- (i) Subject to clause 6.3(b) within fourteen (14) days of each AGM the Board shll elect from amongst its members the Executive.
- (ii) Unless there is no other nomination for a particular position on the Executive at an AGM, no Director shall be eligible to stand for the same position on the Executive that he held on more than three consecutive occasions.

6.4 Variation of size of Board

The Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting increase or reduce the number of Directors.

6.5 Remuneration of Directors

- (a) Each Director shall be paid such remuneration as is from time to time determined by the Company in general meeting.
- (b) The remuneration payable to Directors shall be deemed to accrue from day to day.
- (c) Each Director shall also be paid all travelling and other expenses properly incurred by them in attending and returning from meetings of the Board or any committee of the Board or general meeting of the Company or otherwise in connection with the business of the Company.

(d) The remuneration of each Director shall be subject to the operation of Clause 3.6.

6.5 Alternate Director

Need for Approval

(a) With the approval of other Directors, a Director may appoint an alternate to exercise some or all of the Director's powers for a specified period.

Request for Notice

(b) If the appointing Director requests the Company to give the alternate notice of meetings of the Board, the Company must do so.

Exercise of powers

(c) When an alternate exercises the powers the Director, the exercise of the powers is just as effective as if the powers were exercised by the Director.

Termination

(d) The appointing Director may terminate the alternate's appointment at any time.

Document required

(e) An appointment or its termination must be in writing. A copy must be given the Company.

6.6 Removal of Director

The Ordinary Members may by ordinary resolution at an EGM of which special notice has been given:

- (a) remove any Director before the expiration of his period of office; and
- (b) appoint another person in his stead. The person so appointed shall hold office only until the next following AGM.

6.7 Vacancy on Board

The office of a Director shall become vacant if the member:

- (a) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his creditors generally;
- (b) become prohibited from being a director of a Company by reason of any order made under the Law;
- (c) ceases to be a Director by operation of Section 201C of the Law;

- (d) becomes of unsound mind or a person who person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health;
- (e) resigns his office by notice in writing to the Company;
 - for more than six months is absent without permission of the Board from meetings of the Board held during that period;
- (g) holds any office of profit under the Company;
- is directly or indirectly interested in any contract or proposed contract with the Company;
- (i) ceases to be a General Practitioner; or
- (j) ceases to be an Ordinary Member of the Company.

6.9 Casual Vacancies

- (a) The Board may at any time appoint a person to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy.
- (b) A Director appointed under clause 6.9(a) holds office only, until the next general meeting after the appointment and subject to the other provisions of this Constitution is then eligible for re-election.

7. POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD

7.1 Management of Company business

- (a) Subject to the provisions of the Law and such regulations or provisions, being not inconsistent with this Constitution, as may be prescribed by the Company in general meeting the business of the Company shall be managed by the Board who may:
 - i) pay all expenses incurred in promoting and registering the Company; and.
 - ii) exercise all such powers of the Company as are not, by the Law or by this Constitution, required to be exercised by the Company in general meeting.
- (b) Any rule, regulation or by-law of the Company made by the Board may be disallowed by the Company in general meeting.
- (c) No resolution or regulation made by the Company in general meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the Board which would have been valid if that resolution or regulation has not been passed or made.

7.2 Power to Borrow

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to:

- (a) borrow money and to mortgage or charge its property or any part of it; and
- (b) issue debentures and other securities whether outright or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company.

7.3 Loan by Members

The rate of interest payable in respect of money lent by Members to the Company shall not exceed the lowest rate paid for the time being by banks in the State in respect of term deposits.

7.4 Minutes

The Board shall cause minutes to be made of:

- (a) all appointments of officers and servants;
- (b) the names of members of the Board present at all meetings of the Company and of the Board; and
- (c) all proceedings at all meetings of the Company and of the Board;

Such minutes shall be signed by the Chairman of the meeting at which the proceedings were held or by the Chairman of the next succeeding meeting.

8. PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD

8.1 Frequency of Meetings

The Board must meet at least once in every 12 month period and may meet together for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit.

8.2 Circulating Resolutions

Resolutions

(a) The Board of the Company may pass a resolution without a Board meeting being held if all the members of the Board entitled to vote on the resolution sign a document containing a statement that they are in favour of the resolution set out in the document.

Copies

(b) Separate copies of a document may be used for signing by members of the Board if the wording of the resolution and statement is identical in each copy.

When is the resolution passed

(c) The resolution is passed when the last Board member signs.

8.3 Teleconference Meetings of the Board

- (a) A Teleconference Meeting of the Board shall be deemed to constitute a meeting of the Board and all the provisions of this Constitution as to meetings of the Board shall apply to such meetings so long as the conditions set out in Clause 8.3 (b) are met.
- (b) The conditions of Clause 8.3 (a) are that:
 - (i) all members of the Board for the time being entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Board (including any alternate members of the Board representing any Director for the time being unable to act as Director) shall be entitled to notice of the Teleconference Meeting of the Board;
 - (ii) notice of any Teleconference Meeting of the Board shall be given in accordance with this Constitution;
 - (iii) each of the members of the Board taking part in the Teleconference Meeting of the Board shall be linked by telephone, radio or other form of instantaneous audio or visual communication and must throughout the meeting be able to hear each Director so taking part;
 - (iv) at the commencement of the Teleconference Meeting of the Board each Director must acknowledge his presence to all other members of the Board taking part; and
 - (v) if the Secretary is not present at the Teleconference Meeting of the Board one of the members of the Board so present shall take minutes of the meeting.
- (c) A Director may not leave a Teleconference Meeting of the Board by disconnecting his telephone, radio or other form of communication unless he has previously obtained the express permission of the Chairman of the meeting.
- (d) A Director shall be conclusively presumed to have been present and to have formed part of the quorum at all times during a Teleconference Meeting of the Board unless he has previously obtained the express permission of the Chairman of the meeting to leave the meeting.
- (e) A minute of the proceedings at a Teleconference Meeting of the Board shall be sufficient evidence of such proceedings and of the observance of all necessary formalities if certified as a correct minute by the Chairman of the meeting or by the Secretary if present at the meeting.

8.4 Calling Board Meetings

A Board meeting may be called by a Director giving reasonable notice individually to every other Board member.

8.5 Quorum

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board shall be a majority of the total Board from time to time as provided in this Constitution or such greater number as may be fixed by the Board.

8.6 Vacancy

The continuing members of the Board may act notwithstanding any vacancy in the Board, but if and so long as their number is reduced below the number fixed by or pursuant to this Constitution as the necessary quorum of the Board, the continuing member or members may act for the purpose of increasing the number of members of the Board to that number or of summoning a general meeting of the Company but for no other purpose.

8.7 Chairperson

If the Chairperson is absent or is unwilling to chair a meeting the Vice Chairperson shall chair such meeting and if he also is absent or is unwilling to chair such meeting, then the Board members may choose one of their number to chair the meeting.

8.8 Sub Committees

- (a) The Board may delegate any of its powers and or functions (not being duties imposed on the Board as directors of the Company by the Law or the general law) to one or more sub-committees consisting of such persons as the Board thinks fit. Any sub-committee so formed shall conform to any regulation that may be imposed by the Board and subject thereto shall have the power to co-opt any member or members of the Company and all members of such sub-committees shall have one vote.
- (b) A sub-committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper. Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members present, and in the case of an equality of votes the Chairman shall have a second or casting vote.

8.9 Advisory Boards

The Board may appoint one or more advisory boards consisting of such member or members of the Board as the Board thinks fit. Such advisory boards shall act in an advisory capacity only. They shall conform to any regulations that may be imposed by the Board and subject thereto shall have power to co-opt any Member or Members of the Company all members of such advisory boards shall have one vote.

8.10 Validity of acts

All acts done by any meeting of the Board or of a sub-committee or by any person acting as a Director shall, notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any such Director or person acting as aforesaid, or that the Director or any of them were disqualified, be as valid as if every person had been duly appointed and was qualified to be a Director.

8.11 Voting

- (a) The Board must determine any questions arising at a Board meeting by a majority of votes of Directors present and entitled to vote.
- (b) Each Director present in person has one vote on a matter arising at a Board meeting.
- (c) In the case of equality of votes on a resolution at a Board meeting, the Chair has a casting vote on that resolution (in addition to any vote the Chair has as a Director).

8.12 Participation where Directors interested

- (a) Each Director must comply with the Law in relation to the disclosure of the Director's interests
- (b) A Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is being considered at a Board meeting must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting nor vote on the matter, except where permitted by the Law.
- (c) If there are not enough Directors to form a quorum as a result of a Director having an interest which disqualifies them from voting then one or more of the Directors (including those who have the disqualifying interest in the matter) may call a general meeting of the Company and the general meeting may pass a resolution to deal with the matter.

8.13 No disqualification

- (a) Subject to compliance with the Law, a Director or any entity in which the Director has a direct or indirect interest (as applicable) may:
- (i) enter into a contract or arrangement with an Associated Party;
- (ii) hold any office or place of profit (other than auditor) in an Associated Party;
- (iii) act in a professional capacity (or be a member of a firm that so acts) other than as auditor of an Associated Party);
- (iv) be a member, creditor or otherwise be interested in (other than as an auditor) of an Associated Party.

- (b) Despite the fiduciary nature of a Director's office and the Director's fiduciary obligations:
 - (i) Any contract or arrangement entered into in accordance with clause 8.13(a) by the Director or any entity in which the Director has a direct or indirect interest is not invalid or voidable.
 - (ii) A Director may do any of the things specified in clause 8.12(a) without any liability to account to the Company or any other person for any direct or indirect benefit accruing to the Director or any entity in which the Director has a direct or indirect interest.

9. SECRETARY

The Secretary shall in accordance with the Law be appointed by the Board for such term upon such conditions as it thinks fit, and any Secretary so appointed may be removed by it. Nothing shall prevent the Board from appointing a Member of the Company as Honorary Secretary.

10. SEAL

10.1 Adoption of a Seal

- (a) The Board shall determine whether the Company shall adopt a seal.
- (b) If the Board adopts a seal, then:
 - (i) it shall provide for the safe custody of the seal which shall only be used by the authority of the Board or of a sub-committee of members of the Board authorised by the Board in that behalf; and
 - (ii) every instrument to which the seal is affixed shall be signed by a Director and shall be countersigned by the Secretary or by a second Director or by some other person appointed by the Board for that purpose.

10.2 Authority to Sign

If the Board does not adopt a seal, then every instrument shall be signed by:

- (a) the authority of the Board or of a sub-committee of members of the Board authorised by the Board in that behalf; and
- (b) a Director and shall be countersigned by the Secretary or by a second Director or by some other person appointed by the Board for that purpose.

11. ACCOUNTS

11.1 Accounts to be kept

The Board shall cause proper accounting and other records to be kept and shall distribute copies of every profit and loss account and balance sheet (including every document required by law to be attached thereto accompanied by a copy of the Auditors report thereon as required by the Law.

11.2 Accounts to be available for AGM

The Board shall cause to be made out and laid before each AGM a balance sheet and profit and loss account made up to date no more than five months before the date of the meeting.

11.3 Inspection of Accounts by Members

The Board shall from time to time determine at what times and places under what conditions or regulation the accounting and other records of the Company shall be open to inspection of Members.

12. AUDIT

A properly qualified Auditor or Auditors shall be appointed and his or their duties regulated in accordance with the Law.

13. NOTICE

13.1 Method of Notice

Any notice required by law or by or under this Constitution to be given to any Member shall be given by sending it by post to him at his registered address, or (if he has no registered address within the State) to the address, if any, within the State supplied by him to the Company for the giving of notices to him. Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice shall be deemed to be effected by properly addressing, pre-paying and post a letter containing the notice, and to have been effected in the case of a notice of a meeting on the day after the date of its posting and in any other case at the time at which the letter should be delivered in the ordinary course of post.

13.2 Notice of General Meetings

- (a) Notice of every General Meeting shall be given in any manner herein before authorised to:
 - (i) every Member except those Members who (having no registered address

within the State) have not supplied to the Company an address within the State for the giving of notices to them; and

- (ii) the auditor or auditors for the time being of the Company.
- (b) No other person shall be entitled to receive notices of General meetings. 13.3

Addresses for giving notice to Members

The email, street, postal or registered address of a Member is the street, postal or registered address of the Member shown in the Register.

14. WINDING UP

The provisions of clause 14 of the Constitution of the Company relating to the winding up or dissolution of the Company shall have effect and be observed as if the same were repeated in this Constitution.

15. INDEMNITY

Every Director, Auditor, Secretary and other officer for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability arising out of the execution of the duties of his office which is incurred by him in defending any proceedings whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given in his favour or in which he is acquitted or in connection with any application under the Code in which relief is granted to him by the court in respect of any negligence default breach of duty or breach of trust.